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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

M LMM I DW ISION

ZULEYKA RIVERA

Plaintiff, FILED UNDER SEAL

Case No.

Internet Corporation for Assigned

Names and Numbers',

Verisign, lnc.;

eName Technology Co. Ltd;

ENOM  lNC.;

W hoisguard, lnc..,

Purecelebs.net;

Facebook, lnc.;

CELEB GATE d/b/a celeb.gate.cc; and

M ichelle Kat a/k/a M ichelle Flores.

. 4

FILED BY D,C.

AF2 2 1*) 2019
ANGELA E. NOBLE
c LE R K .tJ S . D I S .T cT.
s. D, OF FLA. - MIAMI

Defendants.

COM PLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

The Plaintiff, ZULEYKA RW ERA, by and through undersigned counsel, hereby sues

Defendants Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers (4ç1CANN''); Verisign, lnc.

(idverisign''l; eName Technology Co. Ltd (t+Name''); ENOM INC. ($(ENOM '')' Nvhoisguard,

lnc.; Purecelebs.net; CELEB GATE d/b/a celeb.gate.cc; Facebook, lnc. titFacebo()k''l, and

M ichelle Kat a/k/a M ichelle Flores. ln support of her claims, Plaintiff states as follows:

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

Plaintiff is an individual who resides in M iam i-Dade County, Florida. Defendants are

citizens of Puerto Rico (Defendant Michelle Kat), California (Defendants ICANN and

Facebook, 1nc.), Virginia (Defendant Verisign), Panama (Defendants Purecelebs.net, as
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listed on their public proxy agent for purposes of official contact, W hoisguard, lnc.),

W ashington State (Defendant ENOM, m CI, and Australia (Celeb Gate); further, the

matter in controversy exceeds the sum of or value of $75,000, exclusive of interest and

costs. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. j 1332.

ln addition, this action arises out of' violations of the United States Tradem azk Act of

1946, as amended (the t'Lanham Act''), 15 U.S.C. jj 1051 ff, and the United States

Copyright Act of 1976, Title 17 U.S.C. chapters 1 through 8 and 10 through 12. Thus,

this Court also has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. j 1331.

Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. j 139 1(b), as a substantial part of the

events or omissions giving rise to these claim s occurred in this District, including the

unauthorized posting of the im ages on the internet, publication so they could be viewed

in M iami-Dade County, Florida, their repeated viewing in M iami-Dade County, Florida,

and the damages to Plaintiff occurred and continue to occur in M iami-Dade County,

Florida.

4. Defendants are subject to personal jurisdiction in this district because they direct business

activities toward and conduct business with consum ers throughout the United States,

including within the State of Florida and this district through the unauthorized posting of

the images on the internet.

THE PARTIES

5. Plaintiff ZULEYKA RIVERA (TtZULEYICA'') is a resident of M iami-Dade County,

Florida. She is a well-known actress, TV host, dancer, m odel, beauty queen, and m other

of a young child.
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6. ZULEYKA began her career in the entertainment industry around 2006 and has since

acquired significant fame and public notoriety.

7. As a public tigure, the ability to control and authorize the use of her name, likeness,

image, and visual representation are of utm ost importance to the success of her

professional career and represents the source and essence of her livelihood.

8. Defendants CELEB GATE d/b/a celeb.gate.cc (ttceleb Gate'') and Purecelebs.net are

pornographic websites that seek to portray nude celebrities through real or fake

photographs regardless of whether such photographs are authorized or unauthorized.

Defendant M ichelle Kat a/k/a M ichelle Flores is a self-proclaimed model and actress who

seeks to gain followers on social media for self-promotion purposes, including through

engaging in recent aggressive cyber bullying actions against the Plaintiff.

Defendants lnternet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers (herein 4ç1CANN''),

Verisign, lnc. (fiverisign''), W hoisguard, Inc., (E4W hoisguard''), Facebook, and ENOM,

INC. ($<ENOM '') (collectively, the içAdditional Defendants'') are top level domain name

registrars, domain name administrators, and internet portals, respectively, that provide the

means and online facilities through which the Violating Defendants are publishing the

unlawfully obtained and unauthorized images.

STATEM ENT OF FACTS

10. Plaintiff is the owner of a11 rights in and to her name, likeness, im age, and visual

representation. Additionally, Plaintiff is the author of the photographs that are the subject

of this action, and therefore, she is the copyright owner of the sam e. Accordingly,

Plaintiff has complete authority to control, lend out, license, and otherwise authorize the

use and public display of her im age.
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1 1. Plaintiff has expended substantial time, m oney and other resources developing,

advertising. promoting and othem ise supporting her reputation and the value of her

name, im age and likeness. Indeed, Plaintiff s business and livelihood are dependent on

the reputation and value of such intellectual property. As of the filing of this action,

Plaintiff is already facing the loss of business contracts involving her name and likeness

as a proximate and direct result of the Violating Defendants' actions.

12. On or about April 24, 2019, the Plaintiff discovered that the Violating Defendants have

unlawfully obtained nude images of her and have published the photographs on the

following internet websites'.

a. celeb.gate.cc;

b. Purecelebs.net;

c. ichelle Ioat' s Facebook page (1'11 1 ls '.>'.a Nvv. .lïtccbtlklls .t.-('l ) l,/l-llicllt-l lt%. .11 (.)I't-. s .338)-,

Further, the above referenced photographs are appearing on google search results.

13. Defendants CELEB GATE d/b/a celeb.gate.cc ('tceleb Gate''), Purecelebs.net and

M ichelle Kat a/k/a M ichelle Flores (the tçviolating Defendants'') have obtained private

nude im ages of ZULEYKA through unknown means, and are knowingly, intentionally,

and maliciously publishing the im ages on their websites with personal information

reasonably identifying them as relating to ZULEYKA with the pup ose of promoting the

Violating Defendants' interests, while simultaneously damaging ZULEYKA 'S brand,

misappropriating her im age, portraying her in a negative light, publicly sham ing her, and

otherwise infringing upon her intellectual property rights.

14. The publication of the im ages by the Violating Defendants, and the resulting actions and

impressions gained by the people i11 ZULEYKA'S comm unity, have been devastating to
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her, her reputation, her fam ily and f'amily relationships, and her professional career, and

have caused her irreparable pain and suffering, which is ongoing.

15. The Violating Defendants' unlawful activities and the Additional Defendants' facilitation

thereof have deprived Plaintiff of her right to determine the m anner in which her nam e,

likeness and im age are portrayed to the public. lndeed, Violating Defendants continue to

wrongfully trade and capitalize on publishing the images without authorization. By their

activities, Violating Defendants are defrauding the Plaintiff and the public for their own

benefit. Violating Defendants should not be permitted to continue their unlawful

activities, which are causing the Plaintiff ongoing irreparable harm . Accordingly,

Plaintiff is seeking entry of a tem porary restraining order prohibiting the Violating

Defendants' further wrongful use of ZULEYKA'S image, and the Additional Defendants'

facilitation of such wrongful activity.

CO UNT I

Unauthorized Publication of Nam e or Likeness,

Pursuant to Section 540.0841), Florida Statutes.

16. Plaintiff hereby adopts and re-alleges the allegations set forth in Paragraphs 1 through 15

above as if fully set forth herein.

17. Section 540.08(1), Florida Statutes, provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

No person shall publish, print, display or otherwise publicly use for purposes of

trade or for any com mercial or advertising purpose the nam e, portrait, photograph,

or other likeness of any nattlral person without the express written or oral consent

to such use given by: (a) Such person', or (b) Any other person, fin'n or
corporation authorized in writing by such person to license the comm ercial use of

her or his nam e or likeness.

18. Further, Section 540.08(2), Florida Statutes, provides:

ln the event the consent required in subsection (1) is not obtained, the person
whose name, portrait, photograph, or other likeness is so used, or any person,
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firm, or corporation authorized by such person in writing to license the
com mercial use of her or his nam e or likeness, or, if the person whose likeness is

used is deceased, any persoll, tirm , or corporation having the right to give such

consent, as provided hereinabove, may bring an action to enjoin such
unauthorized publication, plinting, display or other public use, and to recover

damages for any loss or injury sustained by reason thereof, including an amount
which would have been a reasonable royalty, and punitive or exem plary damages.

19. As set forth in this petition, the Defendants have published, displayed, and publicly used

the im ages of Plaintiff on their internet websites.

20. The Defendants' use of the Plaintiff s im ages is for the Defendants' own comm ercial

purposes, to drive traftk  to their websites and otherwise prom ote their own selwices, as

well as to intentionally and m aliciously damage the reputation of the Plaintiff.

21. By publishing the photographs without the Plaintiff's consent, the Defendants are

publicly disclosing private facts relating to her, giving her publicity which placed her in a

false light in the public eye. and are otherwise appropriating her name, likeness and

im age for their own benefit.

22. Neither the Plaintiff, nor any other person or firm with the authority to license the

Plaintiff's name or likeness for com mercial purposes, have consented to the publication

or display of the im ages in question.

23. Accordingly, Plaintiff is entitled to enjoin the Defendants from publishing and displaying

the harmful images to the public.

COUNT 11

Copyright Infringem ent

17 U.S.C. 9501

24. Plaintiff hereby adopts and re-alleges the allegations set forth in Paragraphs 1 through 15

above as if fully set forth herein.
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25. The images that the Plaintiff seeks to have removed from the Defendants' websites by

way of this lawsuit were taken by the Plaintiff. Accordingly, Plaintiff owns the copyright

in such images. Indeed, it is evident on the face of the images that the photographs were

taken by the Plaintiff herself.

26. As owner of the copyright in the photographs that are the subject of this action, Plaintiff

has the right to reproduce, distribute, and otherwise display the work to the public.

27. By publishing and displaying the pllotographs on their internet websites, the Defendants

have violated the Plaintiff's copyriélht in the photographs.

28. Accordingly, the Plaintiff is entitled to enjoin the Defendants from further publishing and

displaying the im ages without the F'laintiff's consent.

C-OUNT IlI

Intentional and/or Reckless lnniction of Em otional Distress

29. Defendants acted recklessly and/or intentionally in connection with the posting,

publishing, and public display of the damaging photographs of the Plaintiff without her

consent, and with the purpose of obtaining commercial and pecuniary gain, and to

publicly humiliate and damage the Plaintiff s reputation.

30. Defendants' acts were extreme and outrageous, with malicious disregard for the

Plaintiff''s privacy and intellectual property rights to her name, im age and likeness.

31. Defendants' acts have caused Plaintiff to suffer severe emotional distress as well as

resulting dam age to her professional career.

32. Accordingly, Plaintiff is entitled to the relief requested herein.
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PRAYER FO R RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff respectfully requests this Honorable Court enter judgment

on all Counts of this Complaint and an award of equitable relief against the Defendants as

follows:

a. Entry of temporary restraining order, as well as prelim inary and permanent

injunctions pursuant to 1.5 U.S.C. j 1 1 16 and Federal Rule of Civil Procedure

65 enjoining Defendants, their agents, representatives, servants, employees,

and all those acting in concert or participation therewith, from publishing the

unlawfully obtained and unauthorized private nude images of the Plaintiff,

and requiring that Defendants Purecelebs.net, Celeb Gate, and Michelle Kat

a/lc/a M ichelle Flores irnmediately remove any and all nude or otherwise

unauthorized photographs of the Plaintiff from websites and portals under

their control', and that,

b. Entry of an order that, upon Plaintiff's request, the various top level domain

name registrars, domain name administrators, and internet portals who are

provided with notice of the injunction, including but not limited to the

Additional Defendants named herein, im mediately cease facilitating access to

any or all of the Violatillg Defendants nam ed herein publishing or otherwise

displaying the unauthoriized photographs, to the extent that the said Violating

Defendants do not comply with the injunction within 24 hours of entry

thereof.

Entry of an order that Defendants ICANN , Verisign, W hoisguard, and EN OM

shall, within one business day of receipt of this Order, im mediately suspend
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the accounts or registrations of the Violating Defendants, including the

domains purecelebs.net and celeb.gate.cc, as m ay be under the control of each

of the Additional Defendants, to the extent that said Violating Defendants fail

to comply with the injunction within 24 hours of receiving notice of the same,

until further Order of the Court authorizing the release of such account

suspension',

d. Such other and further relief as this Court deems just and appropriate under

the circum stances.

Dated: April 25, 2019

Respectfully submitted,

Recalde Law Firm , P.A.

10800 Biscayne Blvd, Suite 440

M iam i , FL 33 16 1
Ph: 305-792-9100

Fax: 1-305-517-1407

By: ps/Geremy Klein

Gerem y Klein, Esq.

FBN : 10698 1

Rafael Recalde, Esq.

FBN : 60040
Prirnary: asle rt? 1)1 5.' l.(jb l't-rt-l.t I tlt? l tt hA7 .ct ) 1-1-1

Secondary: l-ttl-tte 1 Qt' l-ecttl (.1e 1 :t'$r.' .t.-()1 '1't
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